THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

NOV 19 2019

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001134

Case No. 2019-CP-26-01732

City of Myrtle Beach, For Itself and a Class of
Similarly Situated Plaintiffs,..... Respondents,

v.

Horry County,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Wm. Grayson Lambert
BURR & FORMAN LLP
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, S.C. 29211

James K. Gilliam
Adam R. Artigliere
BURR & FORMAN LLP
Poinsett Plaza
104 South Main Street
Suite 700
Greenville, SC 29601

Henrietta U. Golding
BURR & FORMAN LLP
2411 Oak Street, Suite 206

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the City is likely to succeed on the merits, when two sections of the South Carolina Code of Laws expressly permit the County to collect the Hospitality Fee and neither section says anything about a municipality having to consent to such a fee.
- II. Whether the injunction violates the Supreme Court's holding that a preliminary injunction may be issued "only" to preserve the *status quo ante*, when the injunction here stopped the County from collecting a fee that had been in place for more than two decades.
- III. Whether the City has provided adequate security for the injunction under Rule 65(c) when millions of dollars in lost annual revenue are unsecured by the circuit court's order.
- IV. Whether the City has shown it will suffer irreparable harm without the injunction, when it waited more than two years to bring this lawsuit from the date it claimed the Hospitality Fee expired.

INTRODUCTION

Time and again, the Supreme Court has reminded lower courts three things about a preliminary injunction. *First*, an injunction is a "drastic remedy." *Richland Cty. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 309, 811 S.E.2d 758, 767 (2018). *Second*, an injunction may be issued "*only* if necessary to preserve the status quo ante." *Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 586, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17 (2010) (emphasis added). *Third*, an injunction must be accompanied by

sufficient security to protect the enjoined party, if the injunction was wrongly entered. *Atwood Agency v. Black*, 374 S.C. 68, 73, 646 S.E.2d 882, 884 (2007).

When the circuit court granted the City's motion for a preliminary injunction to stop the County from collecting the Hospitality Fee within the County's municipalities, the circuit court violated these basic tenets. The County began collecting the Hospitality Fee on January 1, 1997, and it continued collecting it for more than twenty-two consecutive years, until the circuit court enjoined it from doing so in 2019. The revenue from the Hospitality Fee allowed the County to undertake needed road projects, which helped spur the County's (and the City's) growth and the tourism industry over the past two decades. As of last year, the Hospitality Fee generated over \$51 million in revenue, including over \$28 million from within the municipalities. In addition to upsetting the *status quo ante* by stopping the collection of a fee that had been in place for more than twenty-two years, the circuit court did not require adequate security for the injunction, as it leaves millions of dollars in annual revenue unsecured that the County would have collected but for the injunction.

Beyond issuing an injunction that upsets the *status quo ante* and requires too little security from the City, the circuit court missed the mark in its analysis of the central issue in this case, which is whether the County needed the City's consent to extend the Hospitality Fee beyond its original sunset date or to change the use of the revenue from the Hospitality Fee. Under the established two-step framework for analyzing the validity of a county ordinance, the first question is whether a county has

the *power* to adopt an ordinance, and the second is whether that ordinance *conflicts* with any State law.

Here, the County has the power to collect the Hospitality Fee, including to change the sunset provision and to change the use of the revenue from the fee, pursuant to various statutes (most notably S.C. Code § 6-1-330(A)). None of these statutes requires municipal consent.

That power does not conflict with any provision of State law. In enjoining the County, the circuit court relied on other statutes, none of which expressly require municipal consent. The circuit court's attempt to read a consent requirement into those statutes is flawed and disregards provisions like § 6-1-330(A) that apply directly to the Hospitality Fee.

The City therefore has no right to an injunction—an injunction it did not even seek for more than two years after it claimed the Hospitality Fee expired.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The County adopted the Hospitality Fee.

In March 1996, voters in Horry County rejected a referendum to adopt a local option sales tax to finance a proposed comprehensive road plan. (R. p. 60). Shortly after this vote, Governor David Beasley directed the chairman of the Department of Transportation to form a committee to propose a plan for the County's short-term and long-term transportation needs. (R. p. 60). That committee issued its report, known as the RIDE Report, in September 1996. (R. pp. 56–99).

To implement the recommendations in the RIDE Report, the County adopted a uniform service charge, called the Hospitality Fee, on October 15, 1996 by enacting Ordinance 105-96. (R. pp. 101–05). The Hospitality Fee imposed a 1.5 percent fee on lodging, admissions to places of amusement, and prepared food and beverage throughout the County, in both incorporated and unincorporated areas beginning on January 1, 1997.¹ (R. pp. 101–02).

In addition to adopting the Hospitality Fee, Ordinance 105-96 provided that the funds from this 1.5 percent fee would “be used to implement a comprehensive road plan adopted by the County in concert with the municipalities of the County.” (R. p. 103). This ordinance also stated that the Hospitality Fee would expire after twenty years, on January 1, 2017. (R. p. 104).

Around the time the County was considering Ordinance 105-96, multiple municipalities—including the City—adopted resolutions supporting the Hospitality Fee. These ordinances “urge[d]” the County to adopt the Hospitality Fee. (R. pp. 107–08, 111–14, 116–19).

The municipalities were not the only public bodies that adopted ordinances urging the County to adopt the Hospitality Fee. Other governmental entities adopted similar resolutions. Both the Horry County Board of Education and the South Carolina Department of Transportation also expressed support for the County’s plan to implement the RIDE Report. (R. pp. 110, 115).

¹ Later amendments increased the fee in the unincorporated areas of the County and added a countywide 2.5 percent fee on rental cars. (R. p. 742–43).

Changes to Ordinance 105-96.

Over the next two decades, the County amended Ordinance 105-96 on multiple occasions, three of which are particularly relevant here.

As initially enacted, Ordinance 105-96 contained a sunset provision, providing that the Hospitality Fee would expire on January 1, 2017. (R. p. 104). All three relevant amendments to Ordinance 105-96 extended the sunset provision beyond January 1, 2017. *First*, in April 2004, the County enacted Ordinance 11-04, which “extended [the Hospitality Fee] for an additional period not to exceed five (5) years,” until January 1, 2022. (R. p. 733). *Second*, in 2016, the County enacted Ordinance 93-16, which reaffirmed the five-year extension of the Hospitality Fee from Ordinance 11-04. (R. p. 184). *Third*, in 2017, the County removed the sunset provision from the Hospitality Fee altogether. (R. p. 193).

The City never voiced an objection to any of the three amendments extending the sunset provision when they were adopted. The City said nothing when the County extended the sunset provision for the first time in 2004. The City said nothing when the County reaffirmed that extension in 2016. And the City said nothing when the County eliminated the sunset provision completely in 2017. Ultimately, on March 20, 2019, with the filing of this lawsuit, the City alleged the County did not have the authority to extend the sunset provision without its consent, even though the County had done so on three occasions, years earlier.²

² The lawsuit was filed only about a month after the County paid off the State Infrastructure Bank loans referenced in the 2004 amendment. (See R. pp. 732–33). The County used the Hospitality Fee revenue from 2017 through early 2019 to pay

Not long after the last of the three amendments to the Hospitality Fee, the County adopted two resolutions declaring its intention for how part of the 1.5 percent piece of the Hospitality Fee would be used: construction of I-73. The County pledged up to \$18 million annually (and then even more money, depending on the growth of that revenue) to building this new interstate. (R. p. 500, 502). Other revenue from the Hospitality Fee would be used as permitted by S.C. Code § 6-1-530, for the operation and maintenance of police, fire protection, emergency medical services, and emergency preparedness operations directly related to tourism-related infrastructure, facilities, and programs.

The City adopted local accommodations and hospitality taxes.

In March 2019, shortly before filing this lawsuit, the City adopted two new taxes. The City adopted a 3 percent local accommodations tax, the maximum amount a county and a municipality may cumulatively collect under § 6-1-540. (R. pp. 504–06). The City also adopted a 2 percent hospitality tax, again the maximum a county and a municipality may cumulatively collect under § 6-1-740. (R. pp. 508–10).

Less than two weeks later, the City sued the County, claiming the County could not extend the sunset provision of the Hospitality Fee or change the use of revenue from the Hospitality Fee without its consent. (R. pp. 37–238). As the backbone for its position, the City alleged its consent (as well as the consent of other

these loans (until the loans were defeased on February 15, 2019)—money that the City now asserts the County should not have been collecting, despite the fact that the City claims it consented to the road projects paid for by those loans.

municipalities in the County) was necessary for the County to collect the Hospitality Fee. The City takes this position, even though it cites to no legal proposition using the word “consent” in this context or that otherwise indicates that consent was necessary. The City claims it provided its consent to the County’s enactment of the Hospitality Fee when the City adopted its resolution “urg[ing]” the County to adopt the Hospitality Fee. The City argues that its consent to the Hospitality Fee expired with the initial sunset of the Hospitality Fee on January 1, 2017 (even though an additional twenty-five-and-a-half months were necessary to pay off the State Infrastructure Bank loans used to finance the very road projects that the City claims it consented to being performed through the use of the Hospitality Fee).

The circuit court enjoined the County’s Hospitality Fee.

After it filed its proposed class complaint, the City moved for a preliminary injunction, (R. pp. 335–37), as did the County, (R. pp. 539–41). The parties filed multiple briefs and dozens of exhibits. (R. pp. 338–525, 542–779, 799–878, 982–1100). At the circuit court’s direction, they also each submitted a confidential memorandum to the court ahead of the hearing on the preliminary injunction motions.

The circuit court heard the motions on June 14, 2019. Later that day, the court informed the parties via email that it would grant the City’s motion and deny the County’s. The circuit court entered its order on June 21. (R. pp. 6–22). The County moved to reconsider four days later. (R. pp. 1108–19).

While the motion to reconsider was pending, the City moved to hold the County in contempt. The City claimed the County was violating the injunction by continuing to collect the Hospitality Fee in municipalities other than the City. (R. pp. 1120–69).

The circuit court denied both the motion to reconsider and the motion to hold the County in contempt on July 10, 2019, after holding a hearing earlier that day.³ In denying both motions, the circuit court clarified that the injunction applied not only to the City, but also to the other municipalities in the County—Atlantic Beach, Aynor, Conway, Loris, North Myrtle Beach, and Surfside Beach.⁴ (R. pp. 23–24). The order is not set to take effect in these other municipalities until August 10, 2019. (R. pp. 23–24).

The County appealed and sought supersedeas relief.

The County appealed the injunction order pursuant to S.C. Code § 14-3-330(4) on July 11, 2019. (R. pp. 1316–37). The day after filing its notice of appeal, the County moved the circuit court for supersedeas relief (*i.e.*, to stay the injunction),

³ Other motions remain pending, but none of those is essential to deciding the legal issues on this appeal. These motions include the County’s motion for leave to amend its counterclaims, (R. pp. 879–912), the City’s motion to dismiss the counterclaims, (R. pp. 780–98), the County’s motion for judgment on the pleadings regarding the class action allegations, (R. pp. 1177–80), and the County Treasurer’s motion to intervene, (R. pp. 1181–225).

⁴ In its motion to reconsider, the County invoked Rule 65(d), which requires that an injunction “describe in reasonable detail, and not by reference to the complaint or other document, the act or acts sought to be restrained.” Rule 65(d), SCRPC. The circuit court said it was “being extremely lenient” in not holding the County in contempt, while citing both the complaint and the transcript of the June 14 hearing. (R. p. 23). This defense of the June 21 order proves that the order violated Rule 65(d).

pursuant to Rule 241(d)(1), SCACR. (R. pp. 1338–53). The circuit court denied that motion, although it did order the City to escrow “the new tax revenues collected” pursuant to its new ordinances. (R. pp. 25–28). The County filed an amended notice of appeal, adding the circuit court’s order denying the County’s motion for supersedeas relief to those orders currently on appeal. (R. pp. 1365–91).

The County also asked the circuit court to stay the entire case, given that this Court’s decision might effectively resolve the litigation. (R. pp. 1354–56). The circuit court granted that motion. (R. pp. 29–31).

After the circuit court denied the supersedeas relief, the County petitioned the Court of Appeals for a writ of supersedeas, based on (1) the lack of adequate security for the injunction as required by Rule 65(c); (2) the injunction changing the *status quo ante* in violation of Supreme Court precedent; and (3) the law, specifically S.C. Code § 6-1-330(A), allowing the County to collect the Hospitality Fee without municipal consent. (R. pp. 1392–420). The City filed a return, and after the County filed its reply, the City then filed a supplemental return. (R. pp. 1421–64, 1529–61, 1562–59). Two days after briefing was completed, Chief Judge Lockemy, for the Court of Appeals, denied the petition in a one-sentence order. (R. p. 32).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

To obtain a preliminary injunction, a party must establish three elements: “(1) it would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; (2) it will likely succeed on the merits of the litigation; and (3) there is an inadequate remedy at law.” *Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes W. Residential Golf Props., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603

S.E.2d 905, 908 (2004). An injunction against a county, as a government entity, requires a plaintiff also show the county's actions were arbitrary, capricious, or oppressive.⁵ *Richland Cty.*, 422 S.C. at 310, 811 S.E.2d at 767.

The decision to grant an injunction is in a circuit court's discretion. *Scratch Golf Co.*, 361 S.C. at 121, 603 S.E.2d at 907. A circuit court abuses its discretion whenever it lacks evidentiary support for its decision or makes an error of law. *Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012). On questions of law, this Court reviews them *de novo*. *Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v. Dennis*, 425 S.C. 193, 198, 821 S.E.2d 667, 669 (2018).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The County does not need the City's consent to the Hospitality Fee.**
 - A. **The County has the power to adopt the Hospitality Fee, and no provision of State law requires municipal consent to do that.**

As a starting point, the circuit court did not frame the issue correctly. The proper question is whether the County has the *power* to collect the Hospitality Fee, which is a uniform service charge, without the City's consent. The power to impose a uniform service charge⁶ or to tax is solely vested in the General Assembly. *See Crow*

⁵ The circuit court included a fifth element: that the injunction was "reasonably necessary," based on *AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn*, 382 S.C. 43, 50–51, 674 S.E.2d 505, 508 (Ct. App. 2009). (R. p. 10). The Supreme Court has framed that consideration as part of the standard three-part test for an injunction, not as a distinct element. *See Compton v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 392 S.C. 361, 366, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642 (2011). The Supreme Court's formulation makes sense, as an injunction will presumably always be necessary if a party lacks an adequate remedy at law.

⁶ The Supreme Court distinguished uniform service charges from ordinary taxes in *Brown v. Horry County*, 308 S.C. 180, 417 S.E.2d 565 (1992). At the same

v. McAlpine, 277 S.C. 240, 243, 285 S.E.2d 355, 357 (1981) (“The people of this State, in their sovereign capacity have, by the Constitution, entrusted the taxing power to the General Assembly . . .”). The General Assembly *may* delegate that power to counties and municipalities. S.C. Const. art. X, § 6. The specific question here is whether the General Assembly has empowered the County to collect the Hospitality Fee, and if the General Assembly did, whether the General Assembly required the consent of the municipalities within the County for the County to collect the Hospitality Fee.

Determining whether the General Assembly did that is a two-step process. First, the General Assembly must have given the County the power to adopt the Hospitality Fee. *See S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cty.*, 368 S.C. 388, 395, 629 S.E.2d 624, 627 (2006). Second, if the County did have that authority, the Hospitality Fee must not conflict with the Constitution or State law. *See id.* Applying this test makes clear that the Hospitality Fee the County adopted is valid and does not require municipal consent.

1. The County was authorized to adopt the Hospitality Fee.

On the first step, the County has the *power* to adopt the Hospitality Fee. The general power to impose a uniform service charge is granted to the County by the General Assembly. *See* S.C. Code § 4-9-30(5)(a) (giving counties the power “to assess

time, the Supreme Court has also recognized that, in a more general sense, any revenue-raising measure enacted by the government is a tax. *See Columbia Gaslight Co. v. Mobley*, 139 S.C. 107, 137 S.E. 211, 212 (1927); *see also Hosp. Ass’n of S.C., Inc. v. Cty. of Charleston*, 320 S.C. 219, 231, 464 S.E.2d 113, 121 (1995) (Finney, J., dissenting).

. . . uniform service charges . . . and make appropriations for functions and operations of the county, including, but not limited to, appropriations for general public works, including roads, drainage, street lighting, and other public works”).

Specifically, the County is also authorized to collect the Hospitality Fee pursuant to S.C. Code § 6-1-330(A). The statute provides:

A local governing body, by ordinance approved by a positive majority, is authorized to charge and collect a service or user fee. . . . A fee adopted or imposed by a local governing body prior to December 31, 1996, remains in force and effect until repealed by the enacting local governing body, notwithstanding the provisions of this section.

Id. § 6-1-330(A) (emphasis added).

Section 6-1-330(A) “authorize[s]” local governing bodies to collect a service or user fee. Additionally, this statute provides that those fees adopted prior to December 31, 1996 remain “in force and effect until repealed by the enacting local governing body.” *Id.*

The General Assembly’s use of this particular date in § 6-1-330(A) cannot be ignored. Only two governing bodies had imposed such a fee prior to December 31, 1996: the County and the City of Charleston. (*See R.* pp. 101–05); City of Charleston Ord. No. 1993-450, § 1. Therefore, the General Assembly necessarily could have had only these two fees in mind when it enacted § 6-1-330(A).

Because the County adopted the Hospitality Fee in Ordinance 105-96 on October 15, 1996, then, pursuant to § 6-1-330(A), the County had the authority to adopt and collect the Hospitality Fee. Moreover, pursuant to that same section, the

County can continue collecting the Hospitality Fee until it is repealed by County Council.

Also speaking directly to the Hospitality Fee is § 6-1-760(B). That section provides that “any ordinance enacted by county or municipality prior to March 15, 1997, imposing an accommodations fee . . . remains authorized and effective after the effective date of this section,” as long as the ordinance meets certain requirements. S.C. Code § 6-1-760(B).

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