THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

NOV 20 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001134

City of Myrtle Beach, For Itself and a Class of Similarly Situated Plaintiffs, ..... Respondents,

v.

Horry County, ..... Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

John M.S. Hoefler  
Chad N. Johnston  
**WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.**  
930 Richland Street  
Post Office Box 8416  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 252-3300

R. Walker Humphrey, II  
**WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.**  
133 River Landing Drive, Suite 200  
Charleston, South Carolina 29492  
(843) 619-4426

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

**III. The Circuit Court Correctly Held That the City is Exempt from Rule 65(c), SCRCF, as a Political Subdivision of the State, and the City Nevertheless Has Voluntarily Provided Adequate Security.**

The County submits that the circuit court erred in not requiring the City to post security under Rule 65(c), SCRCF. The circuit court did not err because the rule excepts from this requirement the State of South Carolina, of which the City is a political subdivision. But in an effort to avoid a dispute in this regard, the City provided two forms of security: an escrow of all its collections under its Local Tax Ordinances, estimated to total \$12.77 Million in Fiscal Year

---

shelter under a current 'status quo' precipitated by their wrongdoing.") (citations omitted); *FQCPRQ v. Brandon Invs., L.L.C.*, 930 So. 2d 107, 112 n. 1 (La. Ct. App. 2006) ("Clearly, if Party A began an illegal activity which was causing irreparable harm to Party B, Party B would not be denied an injunction merely because the status quo was now Party A causing Party B irreparable harm."); *Seaboard Air Line R. Co. v. Atl. Coast Line R. Co.*, 74 S.E.2d 430, 434 (N.C. 1953) ("[A] court of equity may, by its mandate, compel the undoing of those acts that have been illegally done, as well as it may, by its prohibitive powers, restrain the doing of illegal acts.") (citation omitted); *DeNoie v. Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Tex. Sys.*, 609 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Tex. Ct. Civ. App. 1980) (holding that the "[s]tatus quo can never be a course of conduct which is a prima facie violation of law").

2019-2020, and the posting of an \$8.815 Million surety bond. (R. pp.1452-55, 1562-67) This covers 77% of the amount of security the County requested below and is sufficient in and of itself. Beyond that security, the Other Municipalities which have enacted their own Local Tax Ordinances also pledged to escrow their collections, thereby providing an additional \$7.52 Million in security and bringing the total security available to *over* what the County expressly represented to the circuit court would be an appropriate security. (R. p.1111, Motion for Reconsideration) (“Without such an exemption for the City in Rule 65(c), the City must be required to provide security for its injunction which must be in the amount of not less than \$28,000,000.00 Million.”); (R. p.1359). The County’s argument in this regard is thus waived and moot. In any event, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in considering the issue of security; therefore, even assuming that the requirement applies to the City, the City has complied with Rule 65(c).

**A. The County Has Not Preserved Its Argument that the City Is Not Exempt from Posting Security.**

As a threshold matter, the County did not preserve its principal argument that the City does not fall within Rule 65(c)’s exemption of the State from the security requirement. The County’s opposition to the City’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction generically, and in passing, referenced bonds. (R. pp.560-61) But it never asked the circuit court to order that the City obtain a bond; the County merely postulated that “the City is unlikely to be able to obtain a bond as security for an injunction” and that the County will suffer irreparable harm “[i]f the City cannot prove that it can obtain this bond<sup>25</sup> and repay the County for any Hospitality Fee not collected

---

<sup>25</sup> The County misleadingly claimed at the time that over \$50 Million in annual revenues were at issue and any bond “will likely need to be nine figures.” (R. p.560) The circuit court correctly found this \$50 Million figure to be hyperbole. (R. pp.16-17) The County has since rightly abandoned those pronouncements.

while an injunction is in place.” (*Id.*) The City argued in response that it is exempt from any bonding requirements as a political subdivision of the State. (R. p.826) At the hearing, the County never disputed the City’s argument or raised the bond question in any way. (R. pp.275-306) The Injunction Order consequently did not discuss whether a bond should issue. The County did not claim that a bond is required, or that the City is not exempt from Rule 65(c), until its Motion for Reconsideration. (R. pp.1110-11) “An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.” *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009). Accordingly, any argument that a bond is required or that the City is not exempt from obtaining one is unpreserved for this Court’s review.

**B. The Plain Language of Rule 65(c), SCRCP, Exempts South Carolina Political Subdivisions from the Security Requirement.**

The same rules of construction for interpreting statutes apply to court rules. *Green ex rel. Green v. Lewis Truck Lines, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 303, 304, 443 S.E.2d 906, 907 (1994) (per curiam). Accordingly, Rule 65(c) must be given a reasonable reading in light of its intended purpose, *Enos v. Doe*, 380 S.C. 295, 304, 669 S.E.2d 619, 623 (Ct. App. 2008), and must be interpreted in a manner which is consistent with the law at the time of its adoption in 1985, *Timmons v. S.C. Tricentennial Comm’n*, 254 S.C. 378, 402, 175 S.E.2d 805, 817 (1970).

As is relevant here, Rule 65(c) exempts “the State” from the security requirement. At the time of Rule 65(c)’s adoption, our courts recognized that “[m]unicipal corporations are not independent entities” but instead “are political subdivisions of the state.” *Hibernian Soc’y v. Thomas*, 282 S.C. 465, 472, 319 S.E.2d 339, 343 (Ct. App. 1984). As such, they are “creature[s] of the state,” “have no other ancestor other than the state and its citizens,” and do not “possess a separate sovereignty.” *Georgetown Cnty. v. Davis & Floyd, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 52, 59, 824 S.E.2d 471, 475 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing *Hibernian Soc’y*, 282 S.C. at 472, 319 S.E.2d at 343); *see also*

*id.* at 60, 824 S.E.2d at 475 (observing that Home Rule “did not ‘reverse the traditional view that local governments in this country do not possess inherent power’”) (quoting Underwood, *The Constitution of South Carolina, Volume II: The Journey Towards Local Self-Government* 177)). As used here, “the State” necessarily includes political subdivisions such as the City (and the County for that matter, which made no mention of posting security in its motion for a preliminary injunction).<sup>26</sup> There was no need for the drafters of our Rule 65(c) to separately identify political subdivisions as a matter of South Carolina law, regardless of what drafters in other states have done.

The rationale for exempting the State further confirms political subdivisions are included within this rule. Rule 65, except for certain portions not relevant here, “is substantially the Federal Rule which, in turn, is very much the same as present State practice.” Rule 65, SCRPC, Note. The Federal rule exempts the United States government because “[a]lthough the government later may be liable for [damages arising from an improperly issued injunction], security is unnecessary because there is no substantial risk that the United States will be financially unable to indemnify the enjoined party for any of the costs it is legally obligated to pay.” 11A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2954 (3d ed.) Like the federal version, our Rule 65(c) contains a recognition that “the State or an officer or agency thereof” has the ability to raise revenue and there is no substantial risk that they will be unable to answer for damages incurred by a wrongfully entered injunction. Political subdivisions like the City have the same ability to raise revenue and therefore fall within the spirit, as well as the plain language, of Rule 65(c).

---

<sup>26</sup> The County’s reliance on *Mt. Healthy City School District Board of Education v. Doyle*, 429 U.S. 274 (1977), is unavailing. (See Initial Br. of Appellant at 35.) That the City may not be entitled to immunity under the Eleventh Amendment to the United States Constitution has nothing do with whether the City is a part of the State under a South Carolina procedural rule.

The circuit court therefore did not err in holding that “a bond as required by Rule 65 is not necessary and/or required for these parties.” (R. p.24)

**C. The City Volunteered to Post Adequate Security Notwithstanding That It Is Exempt from Doing So.**

Not wanting the true substance of this case to be obscured by procedural issues, the City volunteered two separate forms of the security that nevertheless provide adequate protection for the County. To the extent it applies, Rule 65(c) requires security “in such sum as the court deems proper.” The County previously recognized in briefing before the court of appeals in this appeal that Rule 65(c) does not “necessitate[] a ‘dollar-for-dollar security bond.’” (Reply in Supp. of Pet. for Writ of Supersedeas at 5) Case law confirms as much. *E.g., Ins. Fin. Servs., Inc. v. S.C. Ins. Co.*, 271 S.C. 289, 295, 247 S.E.2d 315, 318-19 (1978) (affirming an injunction bond for \$2,000 when damages were estimated to be \$5,987, and increasing the bond to \$50,000 when damages were estimated to be over \$56,850). It instead is a matter within the discretion of the circuit court to determine what amount of security is “sufficient to protect [the enjoined party] in the event the injunction is ultimately deemed improper.” *Atwood Agency v. Black*, 374 S.C. 68, 73, 646 S.E.2d 882, 884 (2007).

The County declared to the circuit court that security in the amount of \$28 Million should be required of the City. (R. p.1111; 1359) In opposition to the County’s Motion for Reconsideration, the City *sua sponte* proposed “to escrow the funds it collected under its local accommodations and hospitality taxes, which it began collecting on July 1, until the resolution of this matter.” (R. p.1230) The City’s proposal emanated from the County’s offer to escrow Hospitality Fee collections as security for the injunction it sought. (*Id.*) The City thereafter reiterated its proposal and “welcome[d] a modification of the Court’s order granting the injunction to formalize the City’s commitment” as permitted under Rule 62 (c), SCRPC. (R.

**pp.1503-04)** The circuit court accepted the City’s proposal and modified the injunction to require that the City escrow revenues collected under the Local Tax Ordinances. **(R. pp.25-28)** Per the County’s own estimates, this provides approximately \$12.77 Million in security. **(R. pp.1361-64)** The circuit court correctly found that this escrow, coupled with the numerous ways through which the City can raise revenue “to cover any difference between the amount of the escrow and any costs and damages the County might incur or suffer in the event the Court’s injunction is reversed on appeal, is a proper sum under Rule 65(c) and adequately protects the County.”<sup>27</sup> **(R. p.26)**

The County continued to protest. In response, the City of North Myrtle Beach, Town of Surfside Beach, and the City of Conway (all putative class members) pledged to escrow their Local Tax Ordinance collections as security for the injunction. **(R. pp.1454-55, 1509-27)** This provides an additional \$7.52 Million in security. *Id.* Furthermore, the City obtained a surety bond in the amount of \$8.815 Million.<sup>28</sup> **(R. pp.1562-67)** The total security voluntarily provided in response to the County’s continuing demands is approximately \$29.105 Million, which is greater than the amount the County requested be imposed. Setting aside the valid escrow pledges made by North Myrtle Beach, Surfside Beach, and Conway, the security available directly from the City still totals approximately \$21.585 Million, which is 77% of what the County asked for. This

---

<sup>27</sup> The circuit court’s decision was “made independent of, but is certainly bolstered by, the Court’s view . . . that the City is not even required to post a security bond under Rule 65(c) based on its status as a political subdivision.” **(R. pp.26-27)** The County now suggests that the City’s ability to raise revenue to cover any damages to the County “is tantamount to a judicially imposed tax on the City’s residents” (Initial Br. of Appellant at 39) is wholly unpreserved and utterly preposterous. Were that true, the State and its political subdivisions would never be effectively liable in damages.

<sup>28</sup> This amount is the difference the County calculated between collections under the Hospitality Fee and the Local Tax Ordinances by the City, North Myrtle Beach, and Surfside Beach. **(R. pp.1454-55, 1509-27)** Notably, it does not account for Conway’s Local Tax Ordinance collections.

is sufficient in and of itself. But it is more than sufficient considering either the pledges of these Other Municipalities or the City's uncontested ability to raise revenue through a variety of mechanisms should the need arise.<sup>29</sup>

**D. The County's Arguments Against Class Certification Are Unpreserved, Irrelevant, and Meritless.**

Nestled in the County's argument regarding security is a non sequitur attack on the City's ability to certify a class in this case. The City agrees "the class allegations appear to have no bearing on whether the injunction should stand." (Initial Br. of Appellant at 41-42) As far as this appeal is concerned, the County is correct in this regard and this Court need not read any further. These arguments are plainly irrelevant to the issues the County raises. Furthermore, the issues are entirely unpreserved. They were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the circuit court, and the County does not contend otherwise. Finally, the County's arguments are patently meritless; there will be no impediment to identifying class members who made purchases within the municipalities, the County utterly fails to identify any "conflict" between the City and "the average class member," the primary relief sought is declaratory and injunctive relief with respect

---

<sup>29</sup> Finally, should this Court conclude that the City is not entitled to the "State" exemption under Rule 65(c), the security required by the circuit court and the surety bond are not sufficient, the escrow resolutions adopted and to be adopted by the other municipalities cannot be considered, and the City's ability to raise revenue is insufficient to satisfy the security requirements of the rule, the Court may modify the injunction to require the City to give security of \$28 Million dollars or such lesser amount as this Court may find proper in view of the security already given. Just as the circuit court has authority to modify an injunction that is the subject of an appeal with respect to the amount of security under Rule 62(c), SCRCP, this Court has the authority to modify an injunction on appeal. *See* Rule 220(a), SCACR. In this instance, should this Court determine that additional security is required, a remand would be unnecessary given that the County has asserted that \$28 Million dollars is the proper amount of security (**R. p.1111; 1359**) and nothing would remain to be determined by the circuit court in this regard.

to the class as a whole as permitted under Rule 23(a)(5), SCRCP, and wrongfully-assessed uniform service charges collected involuntarily at the point of sale can be recovered.<sup>30</sup>

**IV. The Circuit Court's Conclusion that the City and Class Members Will Suffer Irreparable Harm Is the Law of the Case, and this Court Must Reject the County's Ancillary Unpreserved and Meritless Arguments.**

Before the circuit court, the County's sole argument on the element of irreparable harm was that the County's Board of Fee Appeals provides an adequate mechanism for aggrieved fee payers to challenge the Hospitality Fee.<sup>31</sup> (R. pp.559-61) The circuit court correctly found that it does not. (R. pp.15-17) The County does not challenge this holding in any form. In fact, it proceeds "[e]ven accepting the circuit court's conclusion that the County's Board of Fee Appeals is inadequate." (Initial Br. of Appellant at 45) The circuit court's holding on this element thus is the law of the case for purposes of this appeal and must be affirmed. *See Dreher*, 412 S.C. at 249, 772 S.E.2d at 508.

This Court therefore cannot consider the County's two *new* arguments regarding irreparable harm: the timing of the City's initiation of this litigation demonstrates it does not face irreparable harm, and the purported existence of a less drastic remedy means irreparable harm will not result in the absence of the injunction. Both are unpreserved and without merit, as the County failed to raise either of these arguments to the circuit court in its written opposition to the

---

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